0A 9/2/90

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL L. HERRIN,

Petitioner,

case No. 75,523

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent • :

THE

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FLORIDA BAR NO. **0143265**

ROBERT D. ROSEN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000 - - Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33830 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On November 18, 1989, the State Attorney for the Tenth Judicial Circuit in and for Polk County, Florida, filed an information charging the Petitioner, MICHAEL LYNN HERRIN, with the purchase of cocaine within 1,000 feet of a school contrary to section 893.13, Florida Statutes (1987), which occurred on October 29, 1988 (R1). Mr. Herrin entered a guilty plea and a sentencing hearing was held on May 3, 1989 (R3-14, 18). At the hearing, Mr. Herrin testified that he had been addicted to cocaine since late 1986 (R6). At that time he was using rock cocaine every single day (R6) • He sought treatment and spent three months in a rehabilitation center in Fort Lauderdale (R6-7). After his release, he managed to avoid using cocaine until October 29, 1988 (R7). that date, Herrin testified he had been having social problems with friends which got him in a "depressed mood" (R7). He went down the road from where he lived and bought \$10 worth of cocaine which he intended to use for himself before he was arrested (R7).

Subsequent to the arrest, Herrin attended N.A. meetings and enrolled in a 16-week Tri-County program (R8). The trial court found that there was evidence that Mr. Herrin had an addiction problem (R12). Although not until his arrest did Herrin attempt to use cocaine following his release from the rehabilitation program, the trial court stated this was "not uncharacteristic from what I'm seeing with crack" (R12). The court adjudicated Mr. Herrin guilty, and placed him under two years community control followed by one year probation, drug evaluation, treatment, warrantless urinalysis,

100 hours of community work, and \$150 in court costs (R12-13, 15-16). Under the sentencing guidelines, Mr. Herrin scored out to 3 1/2 - 4 1/2 years incarceration (R17). In the Justification of Mitigation of Sentence, the trial court stated "the defendant suffered from substance abuse. Barbara v. State, 505 So.2d 413 (F1a. 1987). The defendant is amenable to rehabilitation, as is evidenced by his voluntary entry into drug treatment. The defendant will also complete the drug treatment program at Tri-County" (R22)

The State filed a Notice of Appeal on May 16, 1989 (R23). The Second District Court of Appeal reversed the sentence. State v. Herrin, 555 So.2d 1288 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990). The court held that for intoxication or substance abuse to justify a downward departure from the recommended guidelines sentence, the evidence must show the defendant was impaired at the time he committed the crime. The court also held that amenability to rehabilitation was not a valid departure reason. Mr. Herrin filed a motion to stay issuance of mandate pending disposition of his petition for review. This court granted the motion on February 16, 1990. Mr. Herrin filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court on January 19, 1990. This court accepted jurisdiction on April 23, 1990.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Herrin argues that his case conflicts with prior Florida Supreme Court and other District Court decisions as to whether drug addiction is a valid reason for downward departure from the sentencing guidelines. According to those prior decisions, evidence that a defendant suffered from drug addiction at the time of the offense is a valid reason to depart downwards. The Second District Court's opinion in Mr. Herrin's case that alcohol or drugs must have actually clouded the defendant's mind at the time of the offense in order to justify departure, constitutes a conflict with existing law. Based on prior decisions trial courts are permitted to depart downwards where a defendant would not have carried out illegal acts but for a substance abuse problem. To hold that a defendant must be under the influence of drugs at the time of the offense is illogical and arbitrary.

The evidence presented at the trial was sufficient for the trial court to determine that the Petitioner had a substance abuse problem. Findings of fact should not be disturbed by the appellate court.

Other district courts have held that amenability to rehabilitation is a valid reason for downward departure. Flexibility is necessary in an overcrowded prison system, especially for those who show a reasonable chance for rehabilitation.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE DECISION IN STATE V. HERRIN, 555 SO.2D 1288 (FLA. 2D DCA 1990), IS IN CONFLICT WITH FLORIDA SUPREME COURT AND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OPINIONS HOLDING THAT SUBSTANCE ABUSE AND AMENABILITY TO REHABILITATION ARE VALID REASONS TO DEPART DOWNWARD FROM THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES?

Mr. Herrin was convicted and sentenced for possession of cocaine within a thousand feet of a school. In sentencing Mr. Herrin, the trial judge departed downward from the sentencing guidelines because he found that Mr. Herrin suffered from substance abuse. The trial court cited Barbera, supra, for support. Barbera simply states that intoxication or substance abuse is a clear and convincing reason for a downward departure. Id. Barbera, other district courts have held on numerous occasions that substance abuse or drug dependency is a valid reason to depart See, e.g., State v. Fink, 557 So.2d 129 (Fla. 3d DCA downward. 1990); State v. Winter, 549 So.2d 1170 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989); State v. Joseph, 543 So.2d 405 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989); State v. Bledsoe, 538 So.2d 94 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989); State v. Salony, 528 So.2d 404 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), review denied, 531 So.2d 1355 (Fla. 1988); State V. Whitteg, 524 So.2d 1114 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988); State v. Francis, 524 So.2d 1172, 1173 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988); State v. Wilson, 523 So.2d 179 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988); State v. Mesa, 520 So.2d 328 (Fla. 3d DCA

1988); State v. Daughtry, 505 So.2d 537, 539 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987), review dismissed, 511 So.2d 999 (Fla. 1987).

The Second District Court of Appeal reversed Mr. Herrin's sentence holding that a defendant must demonstrate more than drug or alcohol dependency or intoxication at the time of the offense. The court held that "where competent and substantial evidence reflects that alcohol or drugs, or a combination thereof, so clouded the defendant's mind at the time that he committed the crime as to impair his judgment, but without rising to the level of incompetence or insanity, that factor may support a mitigation of the sentence." State v. Herrin, 555 So.2d at 1289. The court admitted that the "other district courts have not construed the Barbera holding as limited as we believe it should be construed." <u>Id</u>. Therefore, it is clear that express and direct conflict exists between this case and the line of cases following Barbera. court should reverse the Second District's holding because it goes against a clear, established pattern of decisions.

The Second District limited <u>Barbera</u>'s holding because it feared the sentencing guidelines would be rendered meaningless where "defendants attempt to attribute their actions to an alcohol or drug abuse problem." <u>Id</u>. However, this court's decision in <u>Barbera</u> was a recognition of the enormity of the existing drug problem facing the State of Florida. A recent U.S. Senate report estimated there are nearly 2.2 million regular cocaine users in America, with Florida ranking fifth in the nation in the number of hard-core users. Tampa Tribune, May 11, 1990, at 1A, col. 1.

Clearly, the existing prison system is not equipped to deal with the sheer numbers of those who commit crimes due to substance abuse. Therefore, the <u>Barbera</u> decision granting trial courts the flexibility to depart downward from the guidelines is a necessary recognition of reality.

The sentencing guidelines have not become meaningless now that trial courts may depart downward based on a defendant's drug problem. The courts still have the option to sentence defendants within the guidelines, which they regularly do and no doubt will continue to do. However, they are free to depart downwards if they determine that these defendants would not have broken the law without the craving for alcohol or drugs pushing them on. Salony, 528 So.2d at 405, the trial court departed downwards based on the defendant's substance abuse and the Third District affirmed. Doctors determined that the defendant had an obvious and chronic substance abuse problem and but for the desire to satisfy his need, would not have committed illegal acts. Drug dependency is a treatable medical and psychological condition. <u>Vance v. State</u>, 475 So.2d 1362, 1363 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985) Defendants who would not have committed crimes but for their drug problem do not deserve to be treated as harshly as those who freely chose to break the law. After Barbera, the courts can now legally recognize this distinction and act on it.

In support of its holding, the Second District noted that the <u>Barbera</u> court presented in detail the facts of that case in its opinion. In <u>Barbera</u>, the Florida Supreme Court related how the

defendant "had drunk a case of beer before stabbing his victim, and his drunken state was the central factor in a defense-filed psychological report." Herrin, 555 So.2d at 1289. However, the presentation of these facts does not mean Barbera held that a defendant must actually be intoxicated at the time of the offense. The Barbera court stated "(w)e do not, however agree with the district court that intoxication or substance abuse cannot be a clear and convincing reason for a downward departure." Barbera, 505 So.2d at 413. (emphasis added). The plain meaning of this statement indicates the Barbera court created two reasons for downward departure: one being intoxication and the other substance abuse. The trial court in the present case chose to apply the second reason.

The Second DCA's holding that a defendant must have his mind clouded by alcohol or drugs when a crime is committed is illogical. It is arbitrary to distinguish between those substance abusers who are intoxicated at the time of the offense and those who are not. When a chronic substance abuse problem forces a person to do something he or she would not normally do, that person's mind is already impaired. Actual intoxication is merely a possible symptom of the true motivation. Therefore, this court should reverse Herrin, based on Barbera and the clear established pattern of decisions following Barbera.

The Second District also held that even if alcohol or drug dependency was a valid reason to depart, there was insufficient evidence to support a finding the Petitioner was a current

drug abuser. This is incorrect. Mr. Herrin testified he was using crack every day in late 1986. He voluntarily sought treatment and spent months in a rehabilitation center. He stayed clean for over a year until he broke down from social pressures and attempted to obtain some crack. After his arrest, Herrin again sought treatment for his addiction. So the trial court had Herrin's own testimony that he was addicted and the fact that he had twice voluntarily sought and undergone treatment for his illness. Though Herrin managed to avoid using crack for an extended period of time, this The trial court stated did not mean he no longer had a problem. this was "not uncharacteristic from what I'm seeing with crack." Though a cliche, it is well-settled that drug and alcohol abusers are never actually "cured" of their illness. The trial court heard Mr. Herrin's testimony firsthand and had the opportunity to observe his demeanor. Based on the evidence and his experience, the trial judge was able to find Mr. Herrin was a substance abuser, and this finding of fact should not have been disturbed by an appellate court.

The trial court also listed that Mr. Herrin was "amenable to rehabilitation" in its reason for departure. The Second District Court of Appeal held that in its view "no case in Florida" permits a downward departure for that reason. Id. However, it appears that other District Courts have permitted downward departures based on a defendant's chances for rehabilitation. See, e.g., State v. Fink, 557 So.2d 129 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990); State v. Whiddon, 554 So.2d 651 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989); State v. Lacey, 553

So.2d 778 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989); State v. Forbes, 536 So.2d 356 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988); State v. Morales, 522 So.2d 464 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). In Fink, the trial court sentenced the defendant downward from the guidelines. The court stated that "the defendant is getting older and he will see the light one of these days, and sometimes we just have to work with some people more than others . . and he is not violent - - He is doing this to support a habit - - - " Fink, 557 So.2d at 129. The Third District affirmed holding that the defendant's drug addiction and amenability to rehabilitation were proper bases for downward departure. Id. at 130. The courts have recognized the fact that there is no logical correlation between a defendant's need for medical treatment and an extended term of imprisonment in the state correctional system. Vance v. State, 475 So.2d at 1363; Youna v. State, 455 So.2d 551, 552 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) The decisions holding that a downward departure is justified where a defendant shows a reasonable chance for rehabilitation, recognize that prison is no cure for drug dependency. court should also recognize amenability to rehabilitation as a valid departure reason. With the overcrowded prison system unable to effectively deal with the increasing influx of drug criminals, the trial courts need the added flexibility to mitigate a sentence where a lengthy prison term is unnecessary. The Second District's ruling in Herrin should be reversed.

CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing reasons, arguments and authorities, the Petitioner respectfully asks this Honorable Court to reverse the instant decision and reinstate the trial court's original judgment and sentence.