IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL L. HERRIN,

Petitioner,

VS .

17,

Case No **75,523**

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

· Market Market

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

WILLIAM I. MUNSEY, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804
Park Trammel Building
Tampa, Florida 33602
AC 813 272-2670

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

At no time in this Country's history has substance abuse become such a disruptive factor. Both the private and public sectors are attempting to correct the problems. There are experiments with drug testing as a condition of both preemployment and continued employment. Health insurance premiums are sky-rocketing for benefits paid on substance abuse. rates have soared and the prisons are filled to capacity. Against this background, the Florida Legislature has promulgated a law that it is a bad thing to sell drugs within 1000 feet of a Mr. Herrin has been convicted of purchasing narcotics within 1000 feet of a school; and, he has benefited from a downward departure because he is a drug dependent personality. There was no evidence that Mr. Herrin was in an intoxicated condition at the time of the purchase. Thus, does Barbera create a right for all substance dependent individuals to have an entitlement to downward departures under the Florida sentencing quidelines scheme?

12

- 1 -

PROLOGUE

Drug dependency is a medical/legal problem. One discipline which combates the problem is psychiatry. Historically, the following is written:

At the turn of the twentieth century, dependence on cocaine was widespread, but it declined over a period of years of about a decade after laws were passed to restrict cocaine use. In the United States, cocaine use and dependence were uncommon for the 40 years between the late 1930s and the early 1970s.

Kaplan, Harold I. and Sadock, Benjamin J. <u>Comprehensive</u> Textbook on Psychiatry (Williams & Wilkins. Baltimore, Maryland. 1989 ed., p. 668.)

Cocaine users are known to commit crimes to obtain money to buy cocaine, and such crimes may involve violence. In addition, cocaine can induce paranoid ideation (see below), and there are numerous reports of episodes of homicide and attempted homicide during such cocaine-induced toxic states.

Id. at p. 671

Cocaine has come full circle.

14.

ISSUE ON APPEAL

WHETHER A CRIMINAL DEFENDANT MUST BE REQUIRED TO DEMONSTRATE MORE THAN DRUG OR ALCOHOL DEPENDENCY OR INTOXICATION AT THE TIME OF THE COMMISSION OF THE CRIME TO BE A CANDIDATE FOR A GUIDELINES DOWNWARD DEPARTURE?

This Court is sensitive to both the "War on Drugs" being waged in both Florida and this nation. Most recently, Chief Justice Ehrlich notes in dissent that the Florida Legislature has spoken loud and clear in promulgating multiple punishments to counter crime. See, State v. McCray, 1990 WL 59663, 15 FLW S267, __So.2d__(Fla. No. 73,249)(Opinion filed May 3, 1990). This case presents an opportunity for this Court to either clarify or modify or recede from your holding in Barbera v. State, 505 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1987).

Petitioner has submitted State v. Fink, 557 So.2d 129 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) as supplemental authority. The Fink opinion was filed on February 13, 1990. No rehearing was filed by the The mandate issued on March 19, 1990. opinion lends support to the government's position in this There, Robert Fink pled no contest to a strong arm robbery charge. His quidelines sentence reflects an incarceration range of $4 \frac{1}{2}$ to $5 \frac{1}{2}$ years imprisonment. However, he was given a downward departure to 364 days imprisonment with a special condition that he complete an Alcohol and Drug Alcohol Abuse Program at the stockade. There was a further recommendation that Robert Fink enter and successfully

12.

complete an outpatient rehabilitation program after release. The written reasons for a downward departure read:

Defendant is a very serious drug addict (cocaine)—defendant is to go to stockade for rehabilitation/followed by out-patient treatment. Victim agrees that defendant should be rehabilitated.

(text of 557 So.2d at 12)

The government took a strong exception and advised the trial court that Robert Fink had three prior felony convictions "which had been mitigated down because of his drug problem." Regretfully, the prosecutor did not direct the clerk to obtain the court files or certified copies of the convictions. The word of the prosecutor as an Officer of the Court was not sufficient. Thus, there was a failure of proof. The <u>Fink</u> panel writes in a footnote:

1 There was apparently no proof such downward departures. Argument of counsel is not evidence. Brown v. State, 538 So.2d 523 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989).

(Text of 537 So.2d at 129, fn 1.)

11

Is not what is good for the goose, good for the gander? There is a <u>failure of proof</u> in <u>Fink</u> as to prior downward departures. There is a <u>failure of proof</u> in <u>Herrin</u> as to drug addiction. At bar, Michael Herrin testified that he had been a rock cocaine addict prior to his arrest and that he had benefited from a regional residential substance abuse program. (R 6) However, Michael Herrin shared that he had suffered relapses. (R 7). Regretfully, at the time of this incident, Michael Herrin had been having social problems with his friends. He testifies:

"...and I just got in a depressed mood and went down and did something very stupid. I went down the road from where I live where they sell rock, and I bought \$10 worth of cocaine." (R 7)Then, Michael Herrin declares that if he hadn't been caught on the day of the crime that he would not have continued cocaine (R 7) Michael Herrin discloses that at the time of the offense there was a possibility that his behavior might revert to addiction. (R 7)This is the testimony of a recreational substance abuser, in full remission, and not the testimony of an individual under the influence of "crack" or "ice" who has no control over his life. In other words, there was no evidence of a "passionate obsession" for crack. See generally, Irizarry v. State, 496 So.2d 822, 825 (Fla. 1986) where this Court noted that jury could have reasonably believed that Hector Irizarry murdered his ex-wife Carmen out of passionate obsession. course, that was a capital appeal where this Court insures on a proportionality review that each death sentence is consistent with cases involving similar circumstances; but, does not a guidelines sentence ignore proportionality? As pointed out by Judge Lehan, there was no evidence that Michael Herrin's desire for drugs was so strong that he could not control himself. State v. Herrin, 555 So.2d 1288, 1291 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) (Lehan, A.C.J., concurring specially with opinion). There is a difference between "passionate obsession" and "fatal attraction"; and, that difference is control. The former is the addict and the latter is the abuser. Here, Michael Herrin was in full remission from his substance dependence!

There was no failure of proof in Barbera v. State, 505 So.2d 1987) as to James Patrick Barbera's intoxicated 413 (Fla. condition. Recall, Barbera had consumed a case of beer when he stabbed his former wife. At sentencing his trial counsel introduced a psychological report establishing that James Patrick Barbera possessed an alcoholic personality and destructive behavioral traits common to alcoholics. At bar, there was no proof that Michael Herrin had smoked "crack" prior to making his purchase. The proof adduced below can be characterized that Michael Herrin's purchase was "faux pas" or social blunder. fact, the prosecution established that this was the first use of cocaine Michael Herrin had experienced since his release from a drug rehabilitation center in Fort Lauderdale. (R 9) "cold stone sober" Michael Herrin purchased crack cocaine 1000 feet from a school. (R 9) This was not a man acting under the influence. To be blunt, this was not a "junkie scoring a fix to feed a habit."

This state does not hide its head in the sand. The law must be enforced and guidelines policies adhered to while preventative measures such as education and neighborhood treatment programs are implemented. For example, in the former, children now lose their driver's license if they dropout of school. There are proposals that welfare benefits be curtailed if children leave school prior to graduation. As to the former, if drugs cannot be controlled, there is a movement to supply street addicts with disposable needles and bleach to curb the spread of physical disease such as hepatitis and Aids. However, when there is

established at a sentencing hearing failed efforts at rehabilitation, is that failure to be rewarded by a downward departure in sentencing? Under the guidelines, would Michael Herrin have been entitled to a downward departure had this been his first and/or "once in a lifetime" purchase of crack?

Against this background, the trial court has overlooked or failed to consider the purposes of the guidelines. Florida strives for a fair sentencing system. Parole is abolished. Under the Guidelines the judiciary seeks honesty in sentencing. In other words, when similar cases are treated alike, then uniformity is achieved.

Always, there is tension between law and equity. In Florida, non-capital cases follow the law set out in the guidelines system; and, capital cases follow equity in Phase II determinations. See, <u>Heiney v. Dugger</u>, 558 So.2d 398, 400 (Fla. 1990) where this Court points out that occasional use of alcohol is nonstatutory mitigating evidence for Phase II recommendations.

This case is simple. Michael Herrin, cold stone sober, purchased crack while in a state of full remission. Michael Herrin did not purchase crack while under the influence of drugs or alcohol. In other words, Michael Herrin's mind was not clouded and his judgment was clear. The Second District in its opinion below makes this quite clear. See, State v. Herrin, 555 So.2d 1288 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990). The record proper supports this determination. Is Judge Parker wrong when he writes that "...a defendant must be required to demonstrate more than drug or alcohol dependency or intoxication at the time of the commission

18

of the crime. Otherwise, the sentencing guidelines are meaningless and should be abolished in cases where defendants attempt to attribute their actions to an alcohol or drug abuse problem.'' Id. at 1289.

Respondent urges that the rule of law announced by the majority is correct:

In developing a precise standard of when a Barbera downward departure should apply, we hold that where competent substantial evidence reflects that alcohol or drugs, or a combination thereof, so clouded the defendant's mind at the time that he committed the crime as to impair his judgment, but without rising to the level of incompetence or insanity, that factor may support a mitigation of the sentence.

(Text of **555** So.2d at 1289)

12

At bar, there was a failure of proof before the trial court of psychological problems justifying mitigation. Michael Herrin was cold stone sober when he bought his crack. He was not a then current substance abuser. Nor, did Petitioner present expert testimony that he was amenable to further treatment.

At bar, what is the mitigating circumstance which justifies the departure? Michael Herrin has benefited from one of the best treatment programs Florida has to offer. He has failed. Now, is this a mitigating circumstance to support a downward departure? To be frank, it would have been far easier to have defended a trial court's upward departure on these facts. Why? Because Michael Herrin's case presents facts in aggravation, not mitigation. Was all the time and all the money spent on Michael Herrin's drug rehabilitation a waste? A departure sentence is one which should be the exception and not the rule. This is not

the highly unusual case in which mitigating circumstances are established. The trial court's <u>carte blanche</u> downward departure was far too broadbased as a matter of law. The Second District has given <u>Barbera</u> a limited construction; and, perhaps this Court is inclined to avail itself of the opportunity to either recede from <u>Barbera</u> and/or modify <u>Barbera</u>. The <u>Herrin</u> holding is sound and is one to be approved.

1.4

EPILOGUE

Both state governments and the federal governments are waging a War on Drugs. Most recently, <u>The American Lawyer in its March</u>, 1990 edition published a "Special Edition" entitled: <u>Can America Enforce Its Drug Laws?</u> [fn 13 [Back issues are available from <u>The American Lawyer</u>, 600 Third Avenue, New York, New York 100161 The articles published are entitled:

- (1) "Should We Give Up?" by Steven Brill;
- (2) "Uzi Disarmed" by Amy Singer;

12

- (3) "Ten Years for Two Ounces" by Stuart Taylor, Jr.;
- (4) "High Times on the Fast Track" by Robert Safian;
- (5) "The Cocaine War in America's Fruitbowl" by Susan Beck, Pamela Brown, and D. M. Osborne;
- (6) "A Defense Lawyer Walks the Line" by Mark Voorhees;
- (7) "Columbia's Bloodied Bench" by Cameron Barr; and,
- (7) "Is Street-Level Enforcement a Bust?" by Alison Frankel and Lisa Freeland.

There is no social problem facing this state and this nation more significant than what this planet faces with substance abuse and substance addiction. The Florida Legislature has declared it a bad thing to sell drugs within a 1000 feet of a school. This case is a perfect example where a substance abuser would self-designate himself as a substance addict to obtain an entitlement to a downward departure under the state sentencing guidelines; thereby, avoiding the guidelines recommended sentencing. Is this the unusual circumstance in mitigation for securing a downward departure?

Children are at risk in Florida. Women are now delivering crack cocaine babies. The public school is only now becoming aware that it has duties to educate these children. The New York Post estimates that it will cost \$40,000.00/year to educate these children in the public school system; and, the fact that these children will be reared in dysfunctional family settings suggests that the future of these children is most guarded. The Phil Donohue Show/"Pregnant Crack Addicts": (syndicated telecast, May 25, 1990) (Transcript available through The Phil Donohue Show, Multi-Media Productions, 267 Broadway, New York, New York 10007). These children are to be educated in schools. The legacy of these children is "attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder"; and, is their future to be found in this nation's criminal justice system? From the moment of birth, their lives mirror classic Greek tragedies. The school may well be the only sanctuary these children have. Michael Herrin purchases crack within 1000 feet of a school. Michael Herrin obtains a downward departure in sentencing. What message does this simple sentence send?

12

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based on the foregoing reasons, argument, and authority, Respondent prays that this Court will make and render an opinion approving the Second District decision filed in the case before this Court.